No. 68873-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONNA L. HOWLAND,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

STATE OF WASHINGTON

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF APPEAL

More than two decades after Donna Howland was acquitted by reason of insanity of a criminal offense and confined involuntarily to Western State Hospital, she petitioned the court for conditional release. The court denied the petition summarily because Ms. Howland did not present expert testimony to support her petition. But Ms. Howland did not dispute that she was still mentally ill. The ultimate question at issue was whether any danger she presented to the community could be mitigated through court-ordered conditions. Expert testimony was unnecessary to make that determination. Because the court erred in requiring Ms. Howland to present expert testimony, the case must be remanded to the trial court for a new determination on the petition for conditional release.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in concluding Ms. Howland was required to present expert testimony to support her petition for conditional release.
- The court erred in dismissing the petition for conditional release.

C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

When an insanity acquittee petitions for conditional release, the question under the statute is whether the person may be released on conditions without substantial danger to the public. The statute does not inquire into the acquittee's mental status, only her dangerousness. Moreover, Ms. Howland did not dispute that she was still mentally ill. Did the court err in concluding she must nonetheless present expert testimony to support her petition for conditional release?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1988, the State charged Donna Howland with one count of premeditated first degree murder. CP 1. The State alleged she killed her live-in boyfriend by stabbing him with a knife. CP 2. Ms:

Howland told police after her arrest that she had heard voices telling her to stab her boyfriend. CP 2. Prior to the incident, Ms. Howland had a three-year history of repeated hospitalizations for suicidal gestures and psychotic ideation. CP 32.

Ms. Howland was diagnosed with chronic paranoid schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder and entered a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. CP 5-6, 33. The trial court found that her mind was affected by her mental disorder to the extent that she

could not perceive the nature and quality of the act she committed and could not tell right from wrong with reference to it. CP 5. Therefore, the court acquitted her by reason of insanity. CP 5-6. The court also found Ms. Howland presented a substantial danger to the public and a substantial likelihood of committing felonious acts if not confined to a state mental hospital. CP 6. Therefore, the court ordered her committed to Western State Hospital (Western). CP 6.

Ms. Howland made significant progress at the hospital. In January 1999, the secretary recommended that she be conditionally released and the court agreed. CP 8. The court ordered her release subject to several conditions, including that she follow her treatment plan, take her medications, and remain in a state of remission without a significant deterioration of her mental condition. CP 9.

At first, Ms. Howland was transferred to a community program located on the hospital grounds but administered separately from it. 5/28/10RP 48; CP 33. In May 2005, she was transferred to a group home in West Seattle. 5/28/10RP 53; CP 33. She returned to Western voluntarily for a few months in summer 2009 for stabilization after

¹ The "secretary" for purposes of the statute is "the secretary of the department of social and health services or his or her designee." RCW 10.77.010(21).

struggling with delusions, depression and diabetes. CP 33. When released, she returned to the group home in West Seattle.

Ms. Howland's baseline mental condition in the community was paranoid and irritable with occasional delusions and outbursts of rage. 5/28/10RP 23, 30, 50, 63. At the same time, she had a good sense of humor and was sometimes cheerful. 5/28/10RP 23, 30. The record contains no evidence that Ms. Howland ever assaulted or threatened anyone, or committed any crimes, either while she was at Western or while she lived in the community. 5/28/10RP 77-78, 120.

Ms. Howland was diligent and consistent about taking her psychiatric medications. 5/28/10RP 16, 26, 54. She understood the need for the medications to maintain her mental stability. 5/28/10RP 16. But one day in winter 2009, she refused to take both her morning and evening doses. 5/28/10RP 27, 31, 38, 56. Her physician had been adjusting her medications for a few months prior to that and, as a result, she was experiencing debilitating side effects. 5/28/10RP 20-21, 36, 55-57, 135. She was also taking far more medications than she had been previously, due to her worsening medical conditions. 5/28/10RP 17-19, 54-57. She decided not to take her medication that day so that she could be readmitted to the hospital, where she would be safe until

the dosages were finally adjusted. 5/28/10RP 69. She violated no other conditions of her conditional release. 5/28/10RP 77.

Upon learning that Ms. Howland had not taken her medication, her case manager immediately telephoned a staff person at Western, who called police. 5/28/10RP 27, 31. Ms. Howland was returned to Western that day. 5/28/10RP 37.

At first, Ms. Howland did not adjust well to being back in the hospital. 5/28/10RP 74. She refused to participate in activities, refused to talk to people, and slept a lot. 5/28/10RP 74. She was angry about being back at Western. 5/28/10RP 81. She had fixed delusions,² although they never caused her to lash out in an assaultive or threatening manner. 5/28/10RP 23-25, 34, 112. She also continued to be diligent about taking her medications. 5/28/10RP 110.

Ms. Howland began to improve after she was moved to a new ward in April 2010. 5/28/10RP 83. She was generally in a good mood, her delusions were diminishing, and she was getting better at managing her emotions. 5/28/10RP 110-12, 116, 125. Nonetheless, the "Risk

² When she first returned to Western, Ms. Howland had delusions that she owned the "Treatment and Recovery Center" at Western, which provides therapy and classes for patients, and that a staff person was an attorney who had bought the place for her. 3/18/11RP 14-16.

Review Board" recommended that conditional release be revoked. CP 33-34. The State filed a motion to revoke conditional release based on Ms. Howland's failure to take her medication for one day and her need for further treatment. CP 19.

A hearing was held in May 2010. Suzanne Leichman, a clinical nurse specialist and therapist who had provided services for Ms.

Howland for several years, testified she did not believe Ms. Howland presented a danger to others despite her refusal to take her medication on two occasions. 5/28/10RP 96. Ms. Howland testified she would agree to stay at Western until her medications were adjusted but that conditional release should not be revoked because she wanted to be able to leave the hospital when she became stabilized. 5/28/10RP 135.

The court found Ms. Howland had violated the terms of conditional release by refusing to take two doses of her medication and by suffering a deterioration of her mental condition. 5/28/10RP 165; CP 27. Therefore, the court revoked conditional release and remanded Ms. Howland to the custody of Western. CP 26-29. But at the same

³ The "Risk Review Board" is a group composed of department heads at Western who meet with a patient's treatment team to decide whether to recommend the patient's release. 3/18/11RP 6.

time, the court expressly found that the State had not proved Ms.

Howland presented a threat to public safety. 5/28/10RP 165; CP 27.

As of March 2011, Ms. Howland was continuing to take her medications and was participating more in treatment. 3/18/11RP 22-24, 28. Her delusions had apparently resolved or, at least, were not apparent to her therapist. 3/18/11RP 14-16, 32-34. Although she talked to herself quite a bit, there was no indication she was receiving internal commands to harm anyone. 3/18/11RP 16. She was still often angry but her outbursts had abated considerably. 3/18/11RP 28. She had not assaulted or threatened anyone. 3/18/11RP 38-39.

In light of her improvement, in January 2011, Ms. Howland filed a petition for conditional release. CP 31, 55-61. The Risk Review Board opposed the petition. The Board concluded Ms. Howland should not be conditionally released because she was refusing to attend the Treatment and Recovery Center (TRC) and was attending alternative treatment groups and classes on the ward instead. CP 48-49; 3/18/11RP 17-18. TRC is a facility located close to the ward which offers four hours of treatment groups and classes per day; the treatment there is more intensive than the treatment Ms. Howland was receiving. 3/18/11RP 12-13; 25. Although Ms. Howland was doing well enough

to progress to a level "three" security clearance, she could not progress any higher unless she attended TRC. CP 48, 50; 3/18/11RP 31-32. The Risk Review Board will not recommend conditional release until a patient progresses to level "seven." 3/18/11RP 48-49.

After a hearing, the court denied Ms. Howland's petition for conditional release. 3/11/18RP 60; CP 51-54. The court found that, although Ms. Howland had made improvement, she still had delusions and angry outbursts; she refused to attend TRC; and the Risk Review Board did not recommend conditional release. 3/18/11RP 60.

On February 7, 2012, Ms. Howland filed another petition for conditional release and requested a hearing. CP 64. Again the petition was not supported by the Risk Review Board. CP 78. The State filed a motion to dismiss the petition. CP 65-83. The State argued the petition was frivolous because Ms. Howland had not offered any expert testimony supporting conditional release. CP 70. The State also argued Ms. Howland had to show a change of circumstances since the last hearing and that she had failed to do so. CP 72-73. Finally, the State argued Ms. Howland was collaterally estopped from arguing she was entitled to conditional release because the court had rejected the identical argument the previous year. CP 73-74.

Attached to the State's motion was an October 12, 2011, progress report from Western. CP 76-78. The report states that, since the previous report, Ms. Howland had made progress in managing her anger and applying healthy coping skills, in gaining insight into her emotional responses, and in refraining from acting out. CP 77. But she still continued to become verbally abusive and argumentative sometimes when she did not get her way. CP 77. Ms. Howland continued to evidence acute symptoms of her mental illness, such as expressing paranoia and maintaining fixed delusions. CP 77. She still refused to attend treatment at TRC, although her attendance in the alternative groups was good. CP 77.

The State also attached a March 15, 2012, progress report to its motion to dismiss. CP 80-83. According to that report, Ms. Howland's symptoms had not fully stabilized and therefore, if she were released to the community, she would likely be at risk of poor medication compliance and less able to cope with interpersonal stressors. CP 81. She had made progress, however. Her angry outbursts had diminished, she had improved her ability to respond to stressful situations, and she had greater insight into her emotional responses. CP 82. Nonetheless, the report concluded Ms. Howland presented a substantial danger to the

public because she had not made substantial progress in treatment, she was unable to verbalize insight into her mental illness or the possible signs of relapse, and she had not progressed beyond security level "three." CP 83.

The court granted the State's motion and summarily dismissed Ms. Howland's petition for conditional release without holding a hearing. CP 106-08. The court found, "[w]ithout expert testimony to support defendant's position, the court has no basis to conditionally release the defendant. Without any such evidence, her petition is frivolous and will be dismissed." CP 108. At the same time, the court rejected the State's argument that Ms. Howland had not shown a change of circumstances. CP 108. The court found that Ms. Howland's progress since the last hearing amounted to such a change. CP 108.

⁴ A copy of the court's order granting the State's motion to dismiss the petition is attached as an appendix.

E. ARGUMENT

The court's decision to require Ms. Howland to support her petition for conditional release with expert testimony was erroneous and unreasonable, where no authority supports the court's position and expert testimony was unnecessary to answer the question of Ms. Howland's dangerousness

1. The ultimate question to be determined on the petition for conditional release was whether any danger Ms. Howland presented could be adequately mitigated through court-ordered conditions.

In Washington, a criminal defendant may be acquitted by reason of insanity of an offense if she proves to the fact-finder by a preponderance of the evidence that she was insane at the time of the offense. RCW 10.77.080. If the fact-finder also finds the defendant "is a substantial danger to other persons, or presents a substantial likelihood of committing criminal acts jeopardizing public safety or security, unless kept under further control by the court or other persons or institutions," the court must order her detained in a state mental hospital or any appropriate less restrictive treatment. RCW 10.77.110(1). If the fact-finder finds the defendant does not present such a danger, the court must order her full release. Id.

Constitutional due process requires that a person committed to a mental institution following an insanity acquittal must be released once

Process Clause "requires that the nature and duration of commitment bear some reasonable relation to the purpose for which the individual is committed." <u>Jackson v. Indiana</u>, 406 U.S. 715, 738, 92 S. Ct. 1845, 32 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1972). The fact that a person has been found beyond a reasonable doubt to have committed a criminal act indicates the person is dangerous and an insanity acquittal supports an inference of continuing mental illness. <u>Jones v. United States</u>, 463 U.S. 354, 364, 103 S. Ct. 3043, 77 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1983). Therefore, a finding of not guilty by reason of insanity is a sufficient basis to commit an insanity acquittee for the purposes of treatment and protection of society. <u>Id</u>. at 366.

But "[t]he committed acquittee is entitled to release when he has recovered his sanity or is no longer dangerous." Id. at 368-70 ("As he was not convicted, he may not be punished. His confinement rests on his continuing illness and dangerousness.") (footnote omitted). In other words, even if the acquittee remains either mentally ill or dangerous, but not both, she may not be confined against her will indefinitely. Id. at 370; see also Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992) (holding State may no longer hold defendant

against his will in mental institution as insanity acquittee because he was no longer mentally ill); O'Connor v. Donaldson, 422 U.S. 563, 575-76, 95 S. Ct. 2486, 45 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1975) ("a finding of 'mental illness' alone cannot justify a State's locking a person up against his will and keeping him indefinitely").

Washington's statute mirrors the constitutional requirement and permits the insanity acquittee to petition for full discharge upon a showing that she is no longer dangerous as a result of mental illness.

RCW 10.77.200(3) (acquittee entitled to full release upon showing that she "no longer presents, as a result of a mental disease or defect, a substantial danger to other persons, or a substantial likelihood of committing criminal acts jeopardizing public safety or security, unless kept under further control by the court or other persons or institutions.").

Although an insanity acquittee must be *fully* released if she is no longer mentally ill or dangerous, Washington's statute provides a mechanism to petition for conditional release for acquittees who are still mentally ill and present some possible danger. The question to be determined in such a proceeding is "whether or not the person may be released conditionally without substantial danger to other persons, or

substantial likelihood of committing criminal acts jeopardizing public safety or security." RCW 10.77.150(3)(c).⁵

The statute provides for conditional release of an acquittee who is still mentally ill and dangerous as long as her dangerousness can be adequately controlled through appropriate conditions. State v. Reid, 144 Wn.2d 621, 628-29, 30 P.3d 465 (2001). "Conditional release is appropriate for an insanity acquittee who continues to be mentally ill but may not be unacceptably dangerous if certain conditions are imposed." Id. at 629. In sum, even if an insanity acquittee is dangerous as the result of a mental disease or defect, this does not preclude the court from granting conditional release. Id. at 630. "Quite the contrary. Conditional release is a mechanism whereby mentally ill persons of varying degrees of dangerousness can be conditionally

⁵ Ms. Howland filed a petition for conditional release under RCW 10.77.200(5), which permits the acquittee to apply directly to the court without first applying to the secretary. See RCW 10.77.200(5) ("Nothing contained in this chapter shall prohibit the patient from petitioning the court for release or conditional release from the institution in which he or she is committed."). The procedures for conditional release provided in RCW 10.77.150 apply to petitions for conditional release filed under RCW 10.77.200(5). See State v. Kolocotronis, 34 Wn. App. 613, 623-24, 663 P.2d 1360 (1983) (procedures set forth in RCW 10.77.150 are applicable when acquittee files petition for conditional release directly with court under former RCW 10.77.200(3) (1974) [now RCW 10.73.200(5)]).

reintroduced into society where it is determined the conditions will reasonably mitigate the dangerousness." <u>Id</u>.

Thus, the principal issue to be determined when an acquittee files a petition for conditional release is the petitioner's dangerousness, not her mental status. <u>Id.</u> at 630 (the conditional release statute "does not inquire into mental status, only dangerousness"); RCW 10.77.150(3)(c). The question is not whether the petitioner remains mentally ill, but the degree to which any possible danger can be mitigated through court-imposed conditions. RCW 10.77.150(3)(c).

That the conditional release statute focuses the inquiry on dangerousness and not mental status is further reinforced by the fact that, in Washington, an acquittee's dangerousness is not presumed to continue indefinitely even though she is presumed to remain mentally ill. "Washington law since 1905 has presumed the mental condition of a person acquitted by reason of insanity continues and the burden rests with that individual to prove otherwise." State v. Klein, 156 Wn.2d 103, 114, 124 P.3d 644 (2005) (citations omitted). In contrast, there is no presumption that the person continues to be dangerous. Id. at 118; Reid, 144 Wn.2d at 627-28. For this reason, the Washington Supreme Court has explicitly recognized that the principal question to be

determined when an acquittee files a petition for release is not whether she continues to be mentally ill but whether she continues to be dangerous. Klein, 156 Wn.2d at 118 ("Because of the statutory presumption that an insanity acquittee continues to be insane, the primary inquiry for the release statute remains the dangerousness of the individual.").

In sum, when an insanity acquittee files a petition for conditional release, the question to be determined is whether any danger she presents can be adequately mitigated through conditions. RCW 10.77.150(3)(c).

2. Expert testimony was not necessary to answer the question of whether any danger Ms. Howland presented could be adequately mitigated through the imposition of conditions.

The State presented expert evidence of Ms. Howland's mental status and symptomatology. CP 76-78, 80-83. Ms. Howland did not dispute that she was still mentally ill. There was therefore no need for her to present her own expert testimony regarding her mental status. The principal question to be determined was not her mental status but whether the court could impose conditions that would adequately mitigate any potential danger she presented to the public. RCW 10.77.150(3)(c); Klein, 156 Wn.2d at 118; Reid, 144 Wn.2d at 630.

There is no authority for the court's position that Ms. Howland was required to present expert testimony to answer this question. Indeed, the determination of Ms. Howland's possible dangerousness and the degree to which it could be controlled did not principally lie within the realm of medical knowledge.

Although generally questions regarding the admission of evidence are reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion, if the issue is based on the meaning of a statute, as it is here, it is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Haq, 166 Wn. App. 221, 272, 268 P.3d 997 (2012), review denied, 278 Wn.2d 1111 (2012).

The conditional release statute does not provide that a petitioner must present expert testimony in order to be entitled to conditional release. See RCW 10.77.150. To the contrary, the statute implies that expert testimony presented on behalf of a petitioner is discretionary and that the court can decide a petition for conditional release without it.

See RCW 10.77.150(3)(b) (providing that the court shall appoint an expert to examine the petitioner only if the petitioner is indigent and requests the appointment of an expert).

Chapter 10.77 RCW requires a defendant who pleads not guilty by reason of insanity in the first instance to provide expert testimony of

her mental condition in order to support the insanity defense. <u>See</u>

RCW 10.77.060(1)(a) ("Whenever a defendant has pleaded not guilty by reason of insanity, . . . the court on its own motion or on the motion of any party shall either appoint or request the secretary to designate a qualified expert or professional person, who shall be approved by the prosecuting attorney, to evaluate and report upon the mental condition of the defendant.").

By contrast, the statute does not require the presentation of expert testimony or medical expertise to address the question of dangerousness. Under the statute, the issue of dangerousness is central to the question of whether the acquittee must be detained and for how long. See RCW 10.77.110(1), .150(3)(c), .200(3). Here, Ms. Howland did not dispute her mental status or that she remained mentally ill. The only question was whether any possible danger she presented could be adequately mitigated through court-imposed conditions. This was not a question that required expert testimony in order for the court to answer.

In Washington, expert testimony is generally appropriate only where the question to be decided involves scientific, technical, or other highly specialized knowledge. See ER 702 ("If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand

the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise."). The question of an acquittee's dangerousness does not require this kind of specialized knowledge. To the contrary, the issue of dangerousness "presents a mixed question involving both a legal and social judgment as well as a medical opinion." Powell v. Florida, 579 F.2d 324, 333 (5th Cir. 1978). Thus, once an acquittee's mental status is established, no further medical opinion is necessary. In the context of a petition for conditional release, the question becomes whether, given the acquittee's mental status, any danger she presents can be controlled adequately through the imposition of conditions. RCW 10.77.150(3)(c).

Determining the appropriateness and nature of conditions to impose upon an acquittee who is conditionally released is a quintessential judicial function and is not a matter to be decided by a medical expert. The statute requires the court to determine what conditions are necessary and provides the court with authority to impose those conditions. RCW 10.77.150(3)(d). The court may modify or reject any conditions suggested by the secretary. <u>Id</u>.

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