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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The Court is Not Required to Convene an Evidentiary 
Hearing Based on the Filing of a Petition for Conditional 
Release That is Opposed by the Secretary. 

Appellant seems to believe that the mere filing of her one-page 

Petition for Conditional Release entitled her to a full evidentiary hearing. She 

IS wrong. 
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A civilly committed individual has no constitutional right through 

due process to a less restrictive alternative release. In re the Detention of 

JS, 124 Wn.2d 689,696,880 P.2d 976 (1994)("we find the respondents 

are not constitutionally entitled to less restrictive treatment"). Rather, the 

right to conditional release is established by statute. RCW 10. 77.l50. 

1. The Statutory Conditional Release Process. 

There are two statutory routes to obtain a conditional release under 

RCW 10.77. Only one entitles the defendant to a full evidentiary hearing. 

First, the defendant may apply to the DSHS Secretaryl for conditional 

release. RCW 10.77.150(1). Only when the Secretary, after consideration 

the reports of experts or professional persons conducting an exam 

pursuant to RCW 1O.77.l40, recommends conditional release (subject to 

review by the Public Safety Review Panel)2 must the court provide the 

hearing for the individual. RCW 10.77. 150(3)(a); Statev. Platt, 143 

Wn.2d 242,248, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). 

1 Secretary" means the secretary of the Department of Social and Health Services 
or his or her designees. RCWIO.77.010(21). Under WAC 388-875-0090 either 
the Superintendent of the treatment facility (Western State Hospital) or the 
director of the division is authorized to act on application for conditional release 
on behalf of the Secretary. 

2 The PSRP was established by the Legislature in 2010, in response to incidents 
involving the criminally insane that placed public safety at risk. The PSRP 
safeguards the public by providing an independent risk assessment in all cases 
where Western or Eastern State Hospital recommends a change a criminally 
insane defendant's commitment status. RCW 10.77.270(1)(a) and (3). 
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At this hearing, the State will bear the burden of proving the 

person is not entitled to conditional release. RCW 1O.77.l50(3)(c); State 

v. Platt, 143 Wn.2d 242, 248, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). 

The second route to obtain conditional release is by directly 

petitioning the court for conditional release. RCW 10.77.200(3). If the 

secretary does not recommend a conditional release, the court "may" 

schedule a hearing. RCW 1 0.77.150(3)(a). Thus, the court has discretion 

whether to convene a hearing under these circumstances. State v. Platt, 

143 Wn.2d 242,248, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). 

In this case, Donna Howland's petition for conditional release was 

opposed by WSH. CP 80-83. Therefore, she was not entitled to a full 

evidentiary hearing. The court had discretion to determine whether a full 

evidentiary hearing was appropriate. 

2. The Burden of Proof 

When the secretary does not recommend conditional release, the 

person seeking conditional discharge bears the burden of proving 

entitlement to a conditional release. State v. Platt, 143 Wn.2d 242, 251, 19 

P.3d 412 (2001). 

In every case, there is both a burden of production and a burden of 

persuasion. State v. Paul, 64 Wn. App. 801, 806, 828 P.2d 594 (1992) citing 

E. Cleary, McCormick on Evidence, § 336, at 946-48 (3d ed. 1984); 91. 
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Wigmore, Evidence §§ 2487-88 (rev. ed. 1981); In re CB., 61 Wn. App. 

280,282-83,810 P.2d 518 (1991). 

a. The Burden of Persuasion 

The burden of persuasion defines the level of certainty the trier of 

fact must be before resolving an issue of fact in favor ofthe party having 

the burden of proof. State v. Paul, 64 Wn. App. 801, 807, 828 P.2d 594 

(1992). When the secretary opposes conditional release, the person seeking 

conditional discharge bears the burden of proving entitlement by a 

preponderance of the evidence. Id. 

b. Burden of Production 

The function of the burden of production is to identify whether there is 

an issue of fact to be submitted to the trier of fact for decision. State v. 

Paul, 64 Wn. App. 801,806,828 P.2d 594 (1992) citing E. Cleary, § 338, at 

952-56; 9 J. Wigmore, § 2485. The court further explained: 

In order to get to the trier of fact and bring into play the burden of 
persuasion, both parties must first satisfy the court that they have a 
quantity of evidence fit to be considered by the trier of fact. Up to that 
point, the party with the burden of proof is subject to a ruling of law 
which would put an end to the case. If the burden of production is met, 
the issue is deferred to the trier of fact for decision. 

State v. Paul, 64 Wn. App. 801, 806, 828 P.2d 594 (1992). 

Therefore, Howland was required to prove by a preponderance of 

the evidence that conditional release was appropriate because, despite her 
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mental illness, the danger she would present to public safety could be 

adequately controlled by the imposition of appropriate conditions. State v. 

Reid, 144 Wn.2d 621,629,30 P.3d 465 (2001). But, in this case, it was not 

even a close call. Donna Howland presented no evidence whatsoever. All 

she did was file a one-page petition. 

The court found that without evidence to support Howland's 

petition, the court has no basis to conditionally release her. Without this 

evidence, the court also found that her petition was frivolous and it was 

dismissed. CP 1 06-1 08. The Court did not err. This appeal should be 

dismissed. 

B. Expert Testimony Supporting Howland's Petition for 
Conditional Release is Necessary for an Evidentiary 
Hearing. 

The criminally insane are presumed to have a mental illness that 

makes them dangerous until the Secretary and/or the court conclude 

otherwise. State v. Platt, 143 Wn.2d 242,252, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). Thus, 

when expert testimony is offered in support of conditional release the court 

will grant a hearing, even if the petition is opposed by the secretary. 

For example, in State v. Platt, where the secretary opposed 

conditional release, the trial court determined that an evidentiary hearing was 

appropriate. State v. Platt, 143 Wn.2d 242, 248, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). 

Platt's attorney had arranged for Platt to be evaluated by a psychologist, 
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pursuant to RCW 10.77.140. Id. at 252. Platt' s doctor testified that Platt's 

mental illness was in remission and no longer required hospitalization. Id. 

Timothy Sommerville was also granted an evidentiary hearing 

regarding his petition for conditional release that was opposed by Eastern 

State Hospital. See, State v. Sommervile, 86 Wn. App. 700, 705, 937 P.2d 

1317 (1997). Sommerville presented the testimony of an outside doctor 

who had reviewed his records. !d. That doctor reached the conclusion that 

Sommerville could be released under specific conditions without presenting 

a danger to the community. Id. 

Clearly, psychiatric or psychological testimony is central to the issue 

of whether, given the danger the defendant presents because of his mental 

illness, he can be conditionally released. In cases where psychiatric or 

psychological testimony is central to the ultimate issue expert testimony is 

necessary. In re Twining, 77 Wn. App. 882, 890, 894 P.2d 1331 (1995), 

reversed on other grounds. 

Expert testimony is required when the ultimate question before the 

trier of fact is best established by an opinion which is beyond the expertise 

ofa layperson or court. Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91,110,26 P.3d 

257 (2001). This rule is based on the premise that jurors and courts do not 

usually have sufficient knowledge and training to make such a 

determination. Reese v. Stroh, 128 Wn.2d 300, 308, 907 P .2d 282 (1995). 
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Failure to present expert testimony under these circumstances openly 

subjects the case to dismissal. Haubry v. Snow, 106 Wn. App. 666, 678-

679,31 P.3d 1186, 1193 (2001). 

Here, the court needed an expert who had evaluated Ms. Howland 

and reached the opinion that under certain conditions it would be safe to 

release her. Without expert testimony the court had no basis to consider any 

type of conditional release, especially in light of the experts from Western 

State Hospital opposing her conditional release. 

Clearly, expert testimony is necessary in order for the court to 

consider whether the criminally insane can be conditionally released. 

Without expert testimony, Howland could not carry her burden of persuasion 

or her burden of proof. She was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing and it 

was entirely appropriate for the court to dismiss her appeal. 

C. Expert Testimony Supporting Conditional Release is 
Necessary for the Court to Order Conditional Release. 

It appears Ms. Howland believes that court could have ordered her 

conditional release even though the experts at Western State Hospital report 

that because of her ongoing fixed delusions and acute psychotic symptoms 

she remains a substantial danger to others. Ms. Howland presents no 

authority to support this position. This argument also contradicts the whole 

purpose of civil commitment: public safety. 
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A criminally insane person is a special category of persons 

presenting a danger because of their mental disease or defect. Hickey v. 

Morris, 722 F.2d 543 (9th Cir. 1983); Williams v. Wallis, 734 F.2d 1434 

(11 th Cir. 1984). For the criminally insane, the risk of danger is more 

apparent and ajudge's need to protect the public is more urgent. State v. 

Keller, 98 Wn.2d 725, 730, 657 P.2d 1384 (1983). 

Without expert testimony, Howland's suggestions about how the 

court could have granted conditional release are merely speculative at this 

juncture. The trial court does not have statutory authority to order 

medication or make specific placement of those placed in the care, custody 

and control of the Department of Social Health Services. In re: JS., 124 

Wn.2d 689,880 P.2d 976 (1994); In re Eaton, 110 Wn.2d 892,899, 757 

P.2d 961 (1988); In re Lowe, 89 Wn.2d 824, 827, 576 P.2d 65 (1978). 

The Supreme Court has authorized DSHS to go through its own 

procedures to determine the most appropriate location for individuals 

placed in its care. In re: JS., 124 Wn.2d 689, 880 P.2d 976 (1994); 

Here, the experts and professionals at Western State Hospital have 

already determined that the Community Program is not the appropriate 

location for Ms. Howland. 

Moreover, it makes no sense that the court would dispose of the 

need for expert opinion for a conditional release when expert opinion is 
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required for every other determination the court makes under RCW 10.77. 

Expert opinion was necessary for the trier-of-fact to find the defendant not 

guilty by reason of insanity in the first place. RCW 10.77.060. 

The statute requires the defendant undergo a mental health 

evaluation and the evaluation submit a report that includes a diagnosis or 

description of the defendant's current mental status, and an opinion that: 

[t]he defendant was criminally insane at the time of the alleged 
offense, an opinion as to the defendant's sanity at the time of the 
act, and an opinion as to whether the defendant presents a 
substantial danger to other persons, or presents a substantial 
likelihood of committing criminal acts jeopardizing public safety 
or security, unless kept under further control by the court or other 
persons or institutions .... 

RCW 1O.77.060(3)(d). 

Similarly, when the Secretary recommends conditional release 

under RCW 10.77.150(1) and (2) it is based on the opinion of an expert or 

professional person who has conducted a mental health examination: 

(1) ... The secretary shall, after considering the reports of experts 
or professional persons conducting the examination pursuant to 
RCW 10.77.140, forward to the court ... the person's application 
for conditional release as well as the secretary's recommendation .. 

(2) In instances in which persons examined pursuant to RCW 
10.77.140 have not made application to the secretary for 
conditional release, but the secretary, after considering the reports 
of experts or professional persons conducting the examination 
pursuant to RCW 10.77.140, reasonably believes the person may 
be conditionally released, the secretary may submit a 
recommendation for release to the court .... 
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Pursuant to RCW 10.77.010(18), a qualified professional person is: 

(a) A psychiatrist licensed as a physician and surgeon in this state 
who has, in addition, completed three years of graduate 
training in psychiatry in a program approved by the American 
medical association or the American osteopathic association 
and is certified or eligible to be certified by the American 
board of psychiatry and neurology or the American osteopathic 
board of neurology and psychiatry; 

(b) A psychologist licensed as a psychologist pursuant to chapter 
18.83 RCW; or 

(c) A social worker with a master's or further advanced degree 
from a social work educational program accredited and 
approved as provided in RCW 18.320.010. 

Finally, the legislature expressly provided for those civilly 

committed under RCW 10.77 to be able to seek independent examinations 

from a qualified expert or professional person. RCW 10.77.140. Those 

examined under RCW 10.77.140 may make application for a conditional 

release under RCW 10.77.150. 

Ms. Howland obviously recognized the need for expert/professional 

evaluation because she obtained expert services on December 2, 2011. Supp. 

CP __ (Sup# 98, Motion and Protective Order for Expert Witness and 

Services Funding Reuqest), Supp. CP __ (Sup #100 Order Appointing 

Expert Sealed Per Sub 97). One can only assume that even her own expert 

did not support her conditional release. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court should be affinned.